SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-10-1220

NORTH PORT ROAD AND DRAINAGE DISTRICT, a dependent special district of the State of Florida,

Lower Tribunal No. 09-2221

Petitioner,

v.

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, an independent special district of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, State of Florida Case No. 09-2221

TERRY E. LEWIS, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 276685

MAGGIE D. MOONEY-PORTALE, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 0555924

Lewis, Longman & Walker, P.A. 1001 3rd Avenue West, Suite 670

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. MAY A MUNICIPAL DEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT, PURSUANT TO MUNICIPAL HOME RULE POWER, IMPOSE A NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENT UPON REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY A STATE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY, IN THE ABSENCE OF EXPRESS OR NECESSARILY IMPLIED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY?1
- 2. WHETHER THE DECISION IN WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DIST. V. NORTH PORT ROAD & DRAINAGE DIST., 36 So. 3d 837 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010) CONFLICTS WITH REMINGTON COMMUNITY DEV. DIST. V. EDUCATION FOUND. OF OSCEOLA, 941 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), AS TO A DEPENDENT DISTRICT'S **AUTHORITY** TO LEVY NON-AD **VALOREM** ASSESSMENTS AGAINST REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY ANOTHER LOCAL GOVERNMENT WHEN THERE IS NO **CONSTITUTIONAL STATUTORY EXPRESS** OR PROHIBITION FOR SUCH A LEVY.

1 The Drainage District is not going to restate or deviate from the certified question of great public importance. However, it is relevant to note, that the Respondent, WVID, is a local government, not a state agency.

8

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

A. Nature of the Case.

This case concerns whether a municipal dependent district, the North Port Road and Drainage District (the "Drainage District"), has the authority to levy nonad valorem assessments against real property owned by an independent special district, the West Villages Improvement District ("WVID"). At issue is the scope of a municipal dependent special district's home rule authority, and whether a municipal dependent special district may levy non-ad valorem assessments against specially benefited government real property in the absence of express or implied legislative authority or whether such a levy requires prior specific legislative authorization from the Florida Legislature. Implicit in this issue is whether the general public located within the municipal dependent special district should shoulder the financial burden of paying for the special benefits of road and drainage services provided to other local government real property within the municipal boundaries.

B. Factual Background.

Pursuant to Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, and the Florida Constitution, the City of North Port (hereinafter "City") is a municipal corporation of the State of Florida which acts by and through its elected City Commissioners. (A. 4, 7, 20,). The City Commissioners created and operate the Drainage District pursuant to

Article III, Sections 66-47 through 66-65, of the City's Code of Ordinance 08-11. (A. 9, 16-27).

The Drainage District provides an integrated system of municipal street and drainage facilities and other improvements for the benefit of property owned within the District. (A. 19-20, 50-51). The Drainage District's boundaries are coterminous with the City's jurisdictional boundaries, and the Drainage District's governing body is the City Commission. (A. 20-21).

On July 28, 2008, the City Commissioners amended the Code of Ordinances relating to the Drainage District to authorize the levy and collection of non-ad valorem assessments against <u>all</u> specially benefited real property within its jurisdictional boundaries, irrespective of whether the real property was governmentally or privately owned. (A. 24). The City's amendment to the Drainage District's Ordinances were codified by the City Commissioners' adoption of Ordinance No. 08-11 (hereinafter "2008 Ordinance"). (A. 16-27). The 2008 Ordinance restated the constitutional and statutory home rule authority for the Drainage District's establishment and financing of its services through the levy of non-ad valorem assessments. 2 (A. 22-23). The 2008 Ordinance also authorized the levy of non-ad valorem assessments for road and drainage services on all non-

² The City's Code of Ordinances specifically states that the Drainage District is created pursuant to the authority contained in Chapters 166, 170 and 189, Florida Statutes, and the City's home rule authority. City of North Port, Florida Code of Ordinances, Art. III, § 66-47.

exempt, specially benefited public and private real property located within the City's jurisdictional boundaries that was not exempt or immune from non-ad valorem assessments. (A. 24). By adopting the 2008 Ordinance, the Drainage District had the right to levy non-ad valorem assessments against other governmental entities which owned real property within the City's boundaries that received special benefits from the Drainage District's services. (A. 24, 41-42, 59-60). Among the entities subject to this assessment was Respondent, WVID. (R. 1, R.1/V.3/T.18; A. 56).

WVID was created by special act of the Florida Legislature in Chapter 2004-457, Laws of Florida, as amended. (R. 1, R.1/V.3/T.18). WVID is an independent special district located entirely within the City of North Port which was created for the purpose of financing and managing the acquisition, construction maintenance and operation of a portion of the infrastructure necessary for community development within the special district's boundaries. (R.1, R.1/V.1/T. 2 & 3). WVID is provided supplemental authority under general law in Chapters 189 and 298, Fla. Stat. (R. 1, R.1/V.3/T.18).

WVID owns nine parcels of real property within the City (and therefore within the Drainage District) that were subject to the Drainage District's non-ad valorem assessment. (R. 1/V.1/T.8). The WVID parcels subject to the assessment are: Parcel Nos. 0779-01-0300, 0779-01-0315, 0779-01-0317, 0779-02-0011,

0780-02-0011, 0780-02-0114, 0780-02-0116, 0784-00-4020, and 0801-00-1010 (hereinafter the "9 Parcels"). (R.1/V.1/T.8).

C. Course of Proceedings and Dispositions.

1. Circuit Court Determination.

Immediately following the adoption of the 2008 Ordinance, the Drainage District levied non-ad valorem assessments against the nine Parcels owned by WVID. (R.1/V.1/T.8) WVID timely filed its written objections to the non-ad valorem assessments which were denied by the Drainage District. (R.1/V.1-2/T. 9, 10, 14 &15). WVID filed a Writ of Certiorari with the Twelfth Judicial Circuit (hereinafter the "initial Petition") requesting that the trial court: (a) quash the Drainage District Director's denial of WVID's appeal; (b) modify the Resolution adopted by the City to remove the WVID's properties from the 2008-2009 tax rolls; (c) order that all non-ad valorem assessments levied by the Drainage District on WVID's properties are invalid and *void ab initio*; and (d) prohibit the Drainage District's levy of non-ad valorem assessments against WVID's properties at the present and "at any time in the future." (R. 1/V. 4/T. 18).

One of the primary arguments advanced by WVID in the initial Petition was that pursuant to <u>Blake v. City of Tampa</u>, 156 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1934), the Drainage District needed express, statutory authority to levy non-ad valorem assessments against governmentally-owned property. The Circuit Court disagreed and denied

WVID's initial Petition on all grounds. (A. 28-30). In its November 14, 2008, Order, the Circuit Court held:

- The non-ad valorem assessment was apportioned based upon a rational methodology.
- 2. The evidence does not show the District acted arbitrarily in adopting non-ad valorem assessments.
- 3. A dependent special district in this case has the authority to levy non-ad valorem assessments on specially benefited properties pursuant to both their home rule authority and statutory authority.

 City of Boca Raton v. State, 595 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1992).
- 4. Procedural Due Process was accorded [sic].
- 5. The essential requirements of law were observed.
- 6. The administrative findings and judgment are supported by competent substantial evidence.

(A. 28-30).

2. Appellate Court's Determination.

On May 13, 2009, WVID filed a second-tier Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Florida Second District Court of Appeal, challeging the Circuit Court Judge's denial of its initial Petition and asserting that the Circuit Court applied the incorrect law to its entire review of WVID's initial Petition. (R. 1/V. 3-4/T. 18 &

21). Each party asserted essentially the same arguments raised at the Circuit Court. (R. 1/V. 3-4/T. 18, 20 & 21).

On May 28, 2010, the Second DCA issued its ruling and, in reliance on Blake, *supra*, and City of Gainesville v. State Dept. of Transp., 778 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), reversed the Circuit Court. (A. 31-39). The Second DCA certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court to be of great public importance:

MAY A MUNICIPAL DEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT, PURSUANT TO MUNICIPAL HOME RULE POWER, IMPOSE A NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENT UPON REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY A STATE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY, IN THE ABSENCE OF EXPRESS OR NECESSARILY IMPLIED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY?

(A.31-39)

The Second District also certified a conflict between its decision and that of the Fifth District in Remington Community Dev. Dist. V. Educational Found. of Osceola, 941 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). West Villages, 36 So. 3d at 842. The certified conflict question between West Villages and Remington concerns substantially the same legal issue as the certified question of great public importance, to wit, whether a municipal dependent special district may levy non-ad valorem assessments against property owned by another local government in the absence of an express statute prohibiting such a levy. Because the certified

question of great public importance and the certified conflict deal with the same issues of law, they will be addressed together.

ARGUMENT

I. JURISDICTION.

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) and 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, to review the decision by the Florida Second District Court of Appeal in the matter of West Villages Improvement Dist. v. North Port Road & Drainage Dist., 36 So. 3d 837 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). The Florida Second District Court of Appeal certified the following question to be of great public importance:

MAY A MUNICIPAL DEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT, PURSUANT TO MUNICIPAL HOME RULE POWER, IMPOSE A NON-AD VALOREM SPECIAL ASSESSMENT UPON REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY A STATE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY, IN THE ABSENCE OF EXPRESS OR NECESSARILY IMPLIED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY?

The Second District Court of Appeal also certified conflict with the decision out of the Fifth District Court of Appeals in Remington Community Dev. Dist. v. Education Found. of Osceola, 941 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

II. THE MUNICIPALITY OF NORTH PORT HAS EXERCISED ITS HOME RULE AUTHORITY TO AUTHORIZE NORTH PORT ROAD AND DRAINAGE DISTRICT TO LEVY **NON-AD VALOREM ASSESSMENTS AGAINST** ALL SPECIALLY BENEFITED REAL PROPERTY, INCLUDING **PROPERTY OWNED** BY BENEFITED REAL **GOVERNMENTS.**

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review for a certified question of great public importance is whether the district court of appeal's decision was erroneous. <u>Leisure Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc.</u>, 654 So. 2d 911, 912 (Fla. 1995); <u>Pan American Bank of Miami v. Alliegro</u>, 149 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1963). The standard of review for reviewing conflicting decisions of District Court of Appeals is *de novo*. <u>Linn v.</u> Fossum, 946 So. 2d 1032, 1036 (Fla. 2006).

B. Municipal Home Rule Authority Provides that Municipalities Can Legislate On Anything Not Expressly Prohibited by Law.

"Municipal home rule authority" is a well established principle memorialized in both the 1968 Florida Constitution and subsequently enacted Florida Statutes. See, Art. VIII, § 2 (b), Fla. Const.; Ch. 166, Fla. Stat. Under the 1885 version of the Florida Constitution, Florida's municipalities operated under "Dillon's Rule" which required an express grant of legislative authority for a municipality to exercise any power. City of Boca, 595 So. 2d at 27. Dillon's Rule in practice resulted in municipalities "flooding" the Florida Legislature with requests to advance and adopt a multitude of bills to resolve local problems. Id. When Florida's Constitution was amended in 1968 and adopted by voter referendum, municipalities were provided broad "home rule powers," thereby

reversing the need for Legislative involvement in each local problem. <u>Id.</u>

Article VIII, Section 2(b), of the 1968 Florida Constitution provides:

(b) **Powers.** Municipalities shall have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes **except as otherwise provided by law**. Each municipal legislative body shall be elective.

Art. VIII, § 2(b), Fla. Const. (emphasis added).3

In 1973 municipal home rule authority was further codified by the Florida Legislature through the adoption of the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, Section 166.011, *et seq.*, Fla. Stat. The Municipal Home Rule Powers Act defines "municipal purpose" as "any activity or power which may be exercised by the state or its political subdivisions." Section 166.021(2), Fla. Stat. See, City of Ormond Beach v. County of Volusia, 535 So. 2d 302, 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) ("municipal purposes" include the conduct of municipal government, exercise of a municipal function, or provision of a municipal service). The Municipal Home Rule Powers Act contains express provision for expanded authority to municipalities. Section

³ Talbot D'Alemberte, the reporter for the Constitutional Revisions Commission, commented that the 1968 and 1885 Florida Constitution differed in that under the 1968 Florida Constitution "all municipalities have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers unless provided otherwise by law, whereas under the 1885 Constitution, municipalities had only those powers expressly granted by law." City of Boca at 27 (citing 26A Fla. Stat. Ann. 292 (1970)(Commentary by Talbot "Sandy" D'Alemberte)).

166.021, Fla. Stat. It specifically provides:

(4) The provisions of this section shall be so construed as to secure for municipalities the broad exercise of home rule powers granted by the constitution. It is the further intent of the Legislature to extend to municipalities the exercise of powers for municipal governmental, corporate, or proprietary purposes not expressly prohibited by the constitution, general or special law, or county charter and to remove any limitations, judicially imposed or otherwise, on the exercise of home rule powers other than those so expressly prohibited...

Section 166.021(4), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

Since 1968, Florida Courts have repeatedly upheld municipalities' broad authority to use their municipal home rule powers to legislate through the enactment of ordinances, concurrently with the Legislature, on any subject which is not preempted to the State. City of Hollywood v. Mulligan, 934 So. 2d 1238, 1243 (Fla. 2006); City of Venice, 429 So. 2d 1241, 1244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). Preempted subject matters reserved by the Florida Legislature relate to the following subjects: annexation, merger, and extraterritorial power; any subject prohibited by the Florida Constitution; any subject expressly preempted to the state or county government by the Constitution or by general law; and any subject preempted to a county pursuant to a county's charter. Section 166.021(3), Fla. Stat.

Home rule authority provides municipalities with the authority to act for all municipal purposes and to exercise any governmental, corporate or proprietary power except when expressly prohibited by law. <u>City of Boca</u>, *supra*; <u>City of Boca</u>,

Ormond Beach, *supra*. Municipal home rule authority enables municipalities to provide municipal services by constructing, maintaining, and operating necessary facilities. Cooksey v. Utilities Commission, 261 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1972)3. Thus, in the absence of a statutory or constitutional prohibition or preemption, municipalities can legislate on any matter as long as the legislation serves a municipal purpose. Section 166.021, Fla. Stat.

C. Municipalities Are Authorized to Levy Non-Ad Valorem Assessments Except When Specifically Prohibited By Law.

Non-ad valorem assessments are charges assessed by local governments against real property because that property derives some special benefit for a particular service or facility. City of Gainesville v. State, 863 So. 2d 138, 145 (Fla. 2003). Non-ad valorem assessments are not based upon property value, but rather upon the cost of a service or facility and the special benefit received by a particular property. Section 197.3632(1)(d), Fla. Stat.; Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corp., 695 So. 2d 667, 669 (Fla. 1997). Such assessments become a lien against the benefited property coequal to county or city taxes. Section 197.3632(1)(d), Fla. Stat. To be valid, a non-ad valorem assessment must: (1) provide a special benefit to assessed property; and (2) the assessment must be fairly and reasonably apportioned. City of Boca, 595 So. 2d at 25. As explained by the Florida Supreme Court, both the determination of the special benefit and the appropriate apportionment of non-ad valorem assessments are legislative functions

which should be upheld unless the determination is arbitrary or grossly unequal. Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc., 667 So. 2d 180, 183-184 (Fla. 1995).

A special benefit is conferred on property when there is a "logical relationship" between the services provided and the benefit to real property. Lake County v. Water Oak Management Corp., 695 So. 2d at 669. An assessment will be deemed fairly apportioned when the assessment represents "a fair proportional part of the total cost of improvement" that does not exceed the proportional benefits provided as compared to other assessed parcels affected by improvement. South Trail Fire Control Dist. v. State, 273 So. 2d 380, 384 (Fla. 1973). The manner of the assessment is immaterial; it may vary as long as the amount of the assessment for each parcel is not in excess of the proportional benefits as compared to other assessments on other parcels. City of Boca Raton v. State, 595 So. 2d 25, 31 (Fla. 1992); Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ, Inc., 667 So. 2d at 18; South Trail Fire Control District v. State, 273 So. 2d at 384.

Non-ad valorem assessments differ from taxes in that taxes are levied by a particular taxing unit for the general benefit of the community at large to support the government, the administration of law, and the exercise of various functions the sovereign is called on to perform. City of Boca, supra; Sarasota County, supra. By contrast, non-ad valorem assessments are based upon the special benefit

to the benefited property from a particular service and the fair apportionment of the assessment for that service. <u>City of Boca</u> at 29. Even if an entity's real property is exempt from an ad valorem tax, an entity still may be subject to non-ad valorem assessments. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Sarasota County</u>, 667 So. 2d at 187 (upholding the levy of a special assessment for stormwater services against a tax-exempt church).

The seminal case on the dual authority for a municipality to levy non-ad valorem assessments is <u>City of Boca</u>, 595 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1992). In the <u>City of Boca</u>, the city funded certain municipal infrastructure improvements through the issuance of bonds that would be repaid by benefited property owners through the levy of non-ad valorem assessments. <u>Id.</u> at 26. The State of Florida challenged the City's levy of the non-ad valorem assessments, claiming that Chapter 170, Fla. Stat., preempted the ability of the city to levy assessments under any circumstance beyond those specifically enumerated. <u>Id.</u> at 29. The Florida Supreme Court rejected the State's position, citing to the broad scope of a municipality's home rule authority and finding that Section 170.01, Fla. Stat., provided supplemental authority supporting the levy of non-ad valorem assessments. <u>Id.</u> at 30.

D. Municipalities Have Authority to Create Dependent Districts and to Levy Non-Ad Valorem Assessments.

Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, provides authority for a municipality to create dependent special districts for the purpose of providing municipal services. See, §189.402(1), Fla. Stat. Municipalities also have additional power pursuant to their

home rule authority to create dependent special districts to serve municipal purposes. See, City of Ormond Beach v. County of Volusia, 535 So. 2d at 304. A "dependent special district" is defined broadly as a special district whose governing board's membership may be identical to that of the governing body of a single municipality. Section 189.403(2), Fla. Stat. A municipality is authorized to create dependent special districts within the boundary lines of the municipality. Section 189.4041(3), Fla. Stat.

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