IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-1220

NORTH PORT ROAD AND DRAINAGE DISTRICT, a dependent special district of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

vs.

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, an independent special district of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

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

from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law." This Court has construed that provision to require that any authority for the disposition of state funds must be made by a duly enacted statute, <u>Advisory Opinion to Governor</u>, 22 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1945); <u>see also Chiles v. Children A, B, C, D, E, and F, 589</u> So.2d 260, 265 (Fla. 1991) ("This Court has long held that the power to appropriate state funds is legislative and is to be exercised only through duly enacted statutes"); <u>State v. Fla. Police Benevolent Association</u>, 613 So.2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1992) ("Exclusive control over public funds rests solely with the legislature").

In this case, North Port District seeks to compel a special district of the state to pay the special assessments out of its funds despite the fact that there is no express legislative grant of authority for it to do so. It is clear that the state has not authorized such an expenditure. In fact, the state has specifically established in West Villages' enabling act that only the property of West Villages which is used for non-governmental purposes will be subject to special assessments by local governmental entities. Therefore, special assessments for property utilized for governmental purposes may not be paid with state funds.

The Municipal Home Rule Powers Act specifically provides that municipal bodies have the power to enact legislation concerning any subject upon which the state legislature may act except "...(b) any subject expressly prohibited by the constitution." Article VII, §1(c), Fla. Const. expressly prohibits the state from

28

expending its funds except pursuant to a duly enacted express statute. Therefore, North Port District is not authorized by the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act to impose its special assessment on the property owned by West Villages.

In a different context, this Court ruled that under home rule principles, a municipality is granted broad powers, but is <u>not</u> authorized to engage in any act which might result in the expenditure of state funds without express legislative authority. In <u>American Home Assurance Co. v. National Railroad Passenger Corp.</u>, 908 So.2d 459 (Fla. 2005), one of the issues was whether a municipal utility authority, the Kissimmee Utility Authority ("KUA"), had the authority to enter into a contract with a railroad to indemnify it for all damages or losses to the railroad or third parties which occurred at a railroad crossing in front of an entrance to a municipal electric utilities plant. This Court determined that §768.28, Fla. Stat. did not apply, because the issue was not tort recovery, but rather an indemnification provision based on a contract between the KUA and the railroad.

This Court also rejected the claim that the issue was controlled by <u>Pan-Am</u> <u>Tobacco Corp. v. Dep't of Corrections</u>, 471 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1984), because that case addressed contractual liabilities of the state, which were expressly limited by, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, Article VII, §1(c), Fla. Const., which requires specific statutory authority for the expenditure of funds and authority to enter such a contract. This Court ultimately concluded that the KUA could validly enter into an indemnification agreement with the railroad, but that it could not rely on sovereign immunity to defeat its obligations under the contract.

In a specially concurring opinion, Justice Cantero (joined by Justices Anstead and Bell), discussed the historical differences between the sovereign immunity of the state and that of municipalities, and noted (908 So.2d at 479):

<u>My conclusion</u> that section 768.28 does not prohibit municipalities from indemnifying private parties <u>is</u> <u>confirmed by the lack of any effect on state funds of a</u> <u>judgment against municipalities</u>. Section 768.28 limits damages amounts because the state will have to pay any judgments. That is not the case, however, for judgments against municipalities. Here, any judgment against KUA will be paid from KUA funds. As KUA acknowledges, the state will not pay a dime. [Emphasis supplied.]

Therefore, both the majority opinion and the special concurrence in <u>American Home Assurance</u> support the conclusion that a municipality is not authorized to take action which might impact the expenditure of state funds in violation of Article VII, §1(c), Fla. Const. Even though the relationship between the municipality's exercise of authority (by contract) and the state treasury was much more attenuated in <u>American Home Assurance</u> than in the case <u>sub judice</u>, this Court clearly indicated that the constitutional provision would have applied if state funds were implicated in the contractual agreement. That ruling clearly supports West Villages' position herein.

Therefore, for the reasons discussed above, North Port District's unilateral attempt to impose special assessments on West Villages' property is not authorized because there is a constitutional provision prohibiting expenditures of state funds without an explicit statute, and there is no such statute here. The only statute on the subject is the enabling statute creating West Villages, which does <u>not</u> authorize payment of the assessments at issue herein. Therefore, for this additional reason, the Second DCA properly determined that North Port District did not have home rule authority to enforce its ordinance against West Villages.

<u>North Port District's Ordinance Must Fail Because it Conflicts with a State</u> <u>Statute</u>

As noted previously, this Court held in <u>Fleetwood Hotel</u>, <u>supra</u>, that despite Article VIII, §2(b), Fla. Const., municipal ordinances are still inferior and subordinate to the laws of the state and are unenforceable if they conflict therewith (261 So.2d at 806). This Court reiterated that doctrine in <u>Rinzler v. Carson</u>, 262 So.2d 661, 668 (Fla. 1972):

> Municipal ordinances are inferior in stature and subordinate to the laws of the state. Accordingly, an ordinance must not conflict with any controlling provision of a state statute, and if any doubt exists as to the extent of a power attempted to be exercised which may affect the operation of a state statute, the doubt is to be resolved against the ordinance and in favor of the statute. A municipality cannot forbid what the legislature has expressly licensed, authorized or required, nor may it

authorize what the legislature has expressly forbidden. In order for a municipal ordinance to prohibit that which is allowed by the general laws of the state there must be an express legislative grant by the state to the municipality authorizing such prohibition. [Citations omitted.]

While <u>Fleetwood Hotel</u> and <u>Rinzler</u> were decided prior to the enactment of the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, those principles still apply.

In <u>City of Miami Beach v. Rocio Corp.</u>, 404 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the Third District held that while the Florida Condominium Act, Chapter 718, Fla. Stat., did not expressly or by implication preempt the subject of condominium conversion to state government, the city ordinances concerning such conversions conflicted with that Act and, therefore, were unenforceable. The opinions conclude that the existence of the conflict invalidated the city ordinance, even though the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act did not state that such a conflict limited municipal authority. The Third District stated (404 So.2d at 1070):

Although the legislature has extended municipal powers in the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, the issue of conflict with state law has not been addressed....The principle that a municipal ordinance is inferior to state law remains undisturbed. Although legislation may be concurrent, enacted by both state and local governments in areas not preempted by the state, concurrent legislation enacted by municipalities may not conflict with state law. If conflict arises, state law prevails.

Subsequently, this Court invalidated municipal ordinances based on conflict with state law in two cases, citing Rocio Corp with approval, see Thomas v. State, 614 So.2d 468 (Fla. 1993); <u>Wyche v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1993). Therefore, even under home rule power, a municipal ordinance cannot be valid if it conflicts with a state statute.

Here, there is no question that the ordinance enacted by the City conflicts with the enabling legislation that created West Villages (as amended). The enabling legislation provides that (AA2):

> Any property interests owned by the district which are used for nonpublic or private commercial purposes shall be subject to all ad valorem taxes, intangible personal taxes, or non-ad valorem assessments, as would be applicable if said property were privately owned.

Chapter 2004-456 \$3(2)(d), Laws of Florida.

The necessary and obvious implication of that language is that property interests owned by the district which are used for public or governmental purposes are <u>not</u> subject to non-ad valorem assessments, such as those North Port District sought to impose here. Interpreting this special act provision otherwise would render the provision meaningless and superfluous, which cannot have been intended. <u>See State v. Goode</u>, 830 So.2d 817, 824 (Fla. 2002)("[A] basic rule of statutory construction provides that the Legislature does not intend to enact useless provisions, and courts should avoid readings that would render part of a statute meaningless"); <u>see also Tabb v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Ass'n</u>, 880 So. 2d 1253, 1260 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (construction of

statute that renders it superfluous contravenes accepted statutory construction doctrine that each part of statute should be given significance and effect and should not be construed as "mere surplusage"). There is no rational way to harmonize the statute with the City's ordinance and, therefore, the ordinance must be held invalid to the extent it attempts to impose non-ad valorem assessments on property interests of the district utilized for public and governmental purposes.

Legal, Financial, and Policy Implications

The North Port District argues that if the decision below stands, the taxpayers within its boundaries will be unfairly required to pay for the services provided to West Villages (IB p.9). North Port District argues that this will create a "windfall" for local governments. <u>Id.</u> at 30-31. Furthermore, North Point District argues that if it excludes local government real property from its formulation of non-ad valorem assessment rates, it cannot accurately analyze the benefits and burdens to assessed property, thus exposing itself to legal challenges for invalid non-ad valorem assessments. <u>Id.</u> at 31.

First, since private taxpayers must ultimately bear the burden of any assessments levied by a city against another government, if the decision below is overturned, the ultimate tax burden for taxpayers will be *increased* because of greater administrative costs (for example, the fee paid to the property appraiser and tax collector from each taxing entity's assessments, <u>see</u> §197.363, §197.3632,

§298.401, Fla. Stat.) at the various taxing layers. Next, because tax certificates cannot be sold against government real property and mandamus is the only remedy for enforcing such special assessments against public property, <u>see Blake</u>, 115 Fla. at 355-56, the enforcement of special assessments on government property by mandamus legal proceedings will result in additional significant costs to taxpayers.

Third, if the assessments below are permitted, the true purpose and intent of a city's special assessments or non-ad valorem assessments, as well as the identity of the taxing entity, would be obscured as the assessments are filtered through the various taxed governmental entities down to the public. Finally, as more fully explained below, the cities' assessments against other governments' real property will be allowed to be imposed upon an inappropriate taxing base, such as the City's current assessment against West Villages' lakes, roadways, and a gopher tortoise preserve conservation area for arterial road maintenance, as was done in the instant case.

There is No Conflict Between the Case Sub Judice and Remington

As the Second DCA determined, there is no conflict between its decision and <u>Remington Community Development District v. Education Foundation of</u> <u>Osceola</u>, 941 So.2d 15 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). The <u>Remington</u> decision involves facts, governmental entities, and legal issues that are materially different than those in the case <u>sub judice</u>. In <u>Remington</u>, the Remington Community Development District ("CDD") challenged a summary judgment, which held that a charter school was exempt from special assessments levied by the CDD. The <u>Remington</u> court addressed two issues. First, the Fifth District considered whether the *charter school* was entitled to the discretionary exemption from non-ad valorem assessments applicable to *public schools* provided by §1013.51, Fla. Stat. The court held that the charter school was not entitled to that exemption since §1013.51, Fla. Stat., which provided the exemption for public schools, was <u>not</u> applicable to charter schools. The legislature expressly excluded charter schools from all of the provisions of Chapter 1013, Fla. Stat., in §1002.33(16)(a), Fla. Stat.

The second issue addressed in <u>Remington</u> was whether the liens for the assessments could be enforced against the charter school's real property by forced sale. Relying on <u>Blake</u>, the Fifth District concluded that only mandamus could be used to enforce the lien.

The <u>Remington</u> court did not pass upon the issue at bar here, which is whether home rule powers authorized a municipal dependent special district to levy non-ad valorem assessments on state property without express or necessarily implied legislative authorization. In fact, the <u>Remington</u> opinion <u>never mentions</u> <u>home rule powers</u>, constitutional or statutory, but limits its discussion to the interpretation of statutes, none of which apply in this case. Moreover, the parties

involved in <u>Remington</u>, a community development district operating under Chapter 190, Fla. Stat., and a charter school are entirely different from the parties here, i.e., a municipal dependent special district operating under a municipal ordinance and an independent special district created by special act.¹⁴

Despite the fact that <u>Remington</u> did not mention home rule powers, North Port District relies on it as supporting its position in this case. The Second DCA rejected North Port District's contention that <u>Remington</u> holds that unless there is a statutory exemption, a special district may levy a special assessment against another local government entity. The Second DCA stated:

We do not read <u>Remington</u> so broadly. The issue in <u>Remington</u> was whether a charter school qualified for the statutory exemption provided for in section 1013.51. But there is no holding in <u>Remington</u> that all public property is subject to special assessments absent a statutory exemption.

<u>Id</u>. Because <u>Remington</u> did not hold that special assessments may be levied against public property if there is no statutory exemption, the <u>Remington</u>

¹⁴ There is another critical factual distinction between <u>Remington</u> and the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>. In <u>Remington</u>, the assessments at issue were levied on the property between 1994 and 1999, while the property was owned by private individuals, the P.M. Wells Family. It was not until 2000 that the real property was transferred to the charter school (941 So.2d at 16). The Fifth District expressly declined to reach the argument whether the charter school was subject to the assessment liens because they were in place before it took title to the property (941 So.2d at 17). Here, in contrast, the assessments were levied while West Villages had title to the property.

decision does not alter the principles of law established in <u>Blake</u> nor conflict with the Second DCA's decision in the case <u>sub judice</u>.

In summary, the Second DCA properly concluded that North Port District does not have authority to levy non-ad valorem special assessments on the property owned by West Villages. Additionally, there is no conflict between the Second District's opinion and <u>Remington</u>, <u>supra</u>. Therefore, this Court should approve the Second District's decision and answer the certified question in the negative.

<u>POINT II</u>

THERE ARE ADDITIONAL GROUNDS TO UPHOLD THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION.

[These arguments need only be addressed if this Court rejects Respondent's position in Point I <u>supra</u>. In that event, this Court could consider these additional arguments or remand the case to the Second District with instructions to address them.]

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